SAVING LIVES CHANGING LIVES



Figure 1: Line planting of rice in Palima, Makpele chiefdom, Pujehun district. Photo credit, Alfred Seiyah, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry

# SIERRA LEONE FOOD SECURITY MONITORING SYSTEM REPORT AUGUST 2021





World Food Programme Government of Sierra Leone



## Contents

Context	2
Objectives and Expected Outcomes:	3
Methodology of FSMS	3
Climate and Weather Conditions	5
Market Analysis and Price Inflation	6
Retail Price Trends	6
Retail price of local and imported rice	6
Palm Oil	6
Cow meat and fish	7
Food Consumption Score	7
Household Food Expenditure Share	9
Household Coping Strategy Index	10
Livelihood Based Coping Strategies	11
Key Recommendations to Improve Food Security	12

For more information regarding food security and vulnerability, please contact: Dr. Mohamed Ajuba Sheriff, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, <u>medajuba@yahoo.com</u> Mustapha Nyallay, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry <u>mustaphanyallay001@yahoo.com</u> Momodu Kamara, Statistics Sierra Leone, <u>momodu.kamara@statistics.sl</u> Yvonne Forsen, World Food Programme, <u>yvonne.forsen@wfp.org</u> Brian Mandebvu, World Food Programme, <u>brian.mandebvu@wfp.org</u> Ballah Musa Kandeh, World Food Programme, <u>ballahmusa.kandeh@wfp.org</u>

# Context

According to the 2020 *Comprehensive Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis* (CFSVA), over 4.7 million people were food insecure of which some 963,000 were severely food insecure. Over half a million people were added to the count of food insecure people since 2015. The 2020 CFSVA showed that the COVID-19 pandemic and its economic fallout contributed to a further deterioration in living conditions and reduced access to basic amenities. It found that 3.3 million people of the food insecure live in rural areas compared to 1.4 million people in urban areas. Data for the 2020 CFSVA was collected during the harvest period when the situation is expected to be better.

To continue to monitor the precarious food security and vulnerability situation in Sierra Leone, WFP in partnership with Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry (MAF) conducted the regular Food Security Monitoring System (FSMS) in July 2021 to capture the trends during the lean season. The two studies provide insight into the levels of seasonal change in vulnerability and provide decision makers with key data to shape the targeting and design of programmes to best address seasonal food insecurity. The FSMS is also a key contributor of data to the Cadre Harmonise exercise commencing in October 2021.

### **Objectives and Expected Outcomes:**

The main objective of the FSMS is to provide timely information about household food security and vulnerability. Data will provide invaluable snapshots at both national and district levels to enable targeted short and long-term programming. The main outcome is to support Sierra Leone's achievement of Sustainable Development Goal 2: End hunger, achieve food security and improved nutrition and promote sustainable agriculture.

### **Methodology of FSMS**

A total of 216 households were randomly selected from each district covering **18 villages** (**1 enumeration area** for each village and **12 households** per village).

Each district is considered its own unit of analysis for the FSMS and results are statistically representative at district level. The first stage stratification is the random selection of EAs/villages within each district. At second stage households are randomly selected for interview within each selected EA/village. The EAs/villages are distributed based on probability proportional to size (PPS) technique.

A key element of the FSMS is the MAF and WFP *Market Price Early Warning System* - the monthly collection of prices for 29 essential commodities from markets across the country to track changes in price. Market price monitoring of food commodities is critical in Sierra Leone, as most low-income households spend a high proportion of their total earnings on food and thus their food security and wellbeing is very sensitive to price increases. Price monitoring data is analysed by MAF and WFP and compiled into monthly and quarterly reports shared online on the WFP Vulnerability Analysis and Mapping (VAM) platform<sup>1</sup> and locally with government counterparts and development partners to support decision making.

### Sampling Approach

The Following formula has been used for the calculation of sample size at district level.

$$n = z^2 \times \frac{p(1-p)}{d^2} \times k$$

Where:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>https://dataviz.vam.wfp.org/</u>

- N = Required minimum sample size
- Z = Z-score corresponding to the degree of confidence
- P = Estimated prevalence of the outcome being measured (food insecurity)
- K = Design effect (required for two-stage cluster sampling)
- d = Minimum desired precision or maximum tolerance error

#### Assumptions:

- ✓ Z=1.96 (95% degree of confidence)
- ✓ Prevalence of food insecurity per last CFSVA=50%
- ✓ A design effect of 2 has been applied based on various studies
- ✓ The level of precision is 10% per common practice
- ✓ 10% added for refusal or absence.

Based on the above parameters a minimum sample size per district is calculated as 216 (adjusted). The number of districts in Sierra Leone is 16 after the de-amalgamation of districts in 2017 and the Western Area Urban Slums is taken as a separate cluster to better understand the food insecurity and vulnerability of slum dwellers.

District	Sample size		
Во	216		
Bombali	216		
Bonthe	216		
Falaba	216		
Kailahun	216		
Kambia	216		
Karene	216		
Kenema	216		
Koinadugu	216		
Kono	216		
Moyamba	216		
Port Loko	216		
Pujehun	216		
Tonkolili	216		
Western Rural	216		
Western Urban	216		
Western Area Urban Slums	216		
Total	3,672		

The FSMS uses the same sample frame that was used during the December 2020 CFSVA to target EAs in communities, Chiefdoms, and districts for data comparability purposes. Data was collected digitally using Personal Digital Assistants (PDAs) on the Open Data Kit (ODK) platform. Digital data collection boosts efficiency by eliminating the need for time consuming data entry whilst minimizing errors. Furthermore, application of geospatial technologies allowing for advanced analyses techniques, and graphic visualization of results using graphs, charts, and maps.

Data collected was uploaded by MAF district statisticians onto an online, central server. Overall, a total of 3,672 households were randomly selected nationwide. Population weight was used for result generalization. A checklist of food security indicators was used to guide enumerators when conducting interviews. These indicators are the same as those used during the 2020 *Comprehensive Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis*, including:

- Food consumption
- Household expenditure on food
- Coping strategies.

Collecting data for the same standard indicators as the 2020 CFSVA and five previous rounds of the FSMS enables data comparability to precisely track changes in district-level food security and vulnerability over time. All field personnel underwent a 2 days' refresher training in data collection prior to the FSMS.

Data collection was conducted by 100 enumerators, including MAF district statisticians in rural area, Stats SL staff and WFP trained enumerators who had supported previous rounds of the FSMS using digital data collection. Data collection was closely supervised by 22 supervisors and WFP VAM/M&E team. MAF Planning, Monitoring and Evaluation and Statistics Department (PEMSD) and WFP Vulnerability Analysis and Mapping (VAM) sub-unit conducted cleaning and analysis of data collected using the Statistical Packages for Social Scientists (SPSS) and Microsoft Excel, with the output being food security indicators at district and national level.

# **Climate and Weather Conditions**

The below graph show that the rainy season had a normal start in -mid June with good conditions for the planting season and progressed normally until mid-July when it became erratic with less rain compared with the long-term average for the larger part of the continued season. Only in the third decade of August did it reach normal levels. Because Sierra Leone receive large amounts of rain, even when there is lower than average it has no or very little impacted in the level of greenery. The green line in the below graph shows that vegetation (NDVI) this year is normal compared to long term averages.



Graph 1. Rainfall and NDVI 2021

© WFP-VAM, CHIRPS/MODIS

# **Market Analysis and Price Inflation**

### **Retail Price Trends**

The prices of local and imported food products continue to increase across the country, mainly because of the depreciation of the local currency the *Leone* (SLL) against the USA Dollar, increased fuel costs in addition to a reduction in domestic production which has resulted in an increase in the price of local and imported foodstuffs across the country.

#### Retail price of local and imported rice

The price of local rice increased between July 2020 and July 2021. The price of a kilogram of local rice increased from SLL10,151 in July 2020 to SLL11,638 in July 2021, representing a hike of 15 percent. The high increment in the price of local rice may be due to lower than normal yields in the last farming season and because of the increased price of imported rice, which also sharply rose from SLL 8,230 in July 2020 to SLL 9,923 in July 2021, an increase of 21 percent.

#### Palm Oil

Palm oil is cultivated across most of the districts in Sierra Leone and is consumed by most households regardless of their economic status. Sierra Leone has a comparative advantage in the production of palm oil when compared to neighbouring Guinea and Liberia and exports palm oil to these countries. The price of palm oil increased by 19 percent when compared from July 2020 to July 2021. This increase is likely due to increase fuel prices that impacted processing and transportation.





#### Cow meat and fish

The price of cow meat continues to increase across the country, mainly because of the depreciation of the Leone as most cattle that are consumed in Sierra Leone are imported from neighbouring Guinea and Mali. The price of a kilogram of cow meat increased from SLL 51,000 to SLL 75,000 between July 2020 and July 2021, a price hike of 47 percent. Smoked herring is typical item in the food basket of Sierra Leoneans. Due to limited access to fish, it is used sparingly as a condiment. The average



price of smoked herring increased by 36 percent when compared from July 2020 to July 2021.

The Consumer Price Index (CPI) is a measure that examines the weighted average of prices of a basket of consumer goods and services, including housing, transportation, food and beverages, medical care, etc. The graph to the right shows that the CPI increased by 7.4 percent between January and July 2021, reflecting the overall increase in prices of goods and services over the period.

Whilst the overall CPI measures a range of different goods and services, the CPI for food only tracks changes in the retail prices of food commodities. As shown in the graph, the CPI for food increased by approximately 10 percent between January and July 2021. It should be noted that the price of food increased at a faster rate than for other goods and services. The significant price increase in food in a short period of time can be expected to be accentuating the





vulnerability of low-income households who were already spending a high proportion of their meagre income on food.

## **Food Consumption Score**

The Food Consumption Score (FCS) is a composite score based on dietary diversity, food frequency, and relative nutritional importance of different food groups. Information is collected from a country specific list of food items and food groups, with surveyed households asked a series of questions to find out information

about the frequency and composition of consumption (in days) over a recall period of the past 7 days. Based on their responses, households are then categorised as the table shows below:

FCS Category	Definition
Poor	Household regularly <b>does not</b> consume a diet with requisite kilocalorie content and/or dietary diversity to live a healthy life
Borderline	Household occasionally supplements consumption of carbohydrates with other more nutritious food sources, however, below optimum or recommended requirements
Acceptable	Household regularly consumes a diet with appropriate kilocalorie content and/or dietary diversity to live a healthy life

The August 2021 showed a continued and steady deterioration in the Food Consumption Score when compared to previous rounds of the FSMS, as shown in the below figure. The proportion of households categorised as having "poor" FCS has increased in each round of the FSMS since September 2018, and most recently from 34 percent in June 2020 to 37 percent in August 2021. The proportion of households with "poor" FCS doubled between September 2018 and August 2021. Conversely, the share of households with "acceptable" FCS has declined, albeit more significantly from 29 percent in June 2020 to just 21 percent in August 2021. Similarly, those households with "borderline" FCS - who are vulnerable to fall into the "poor" category given further food price increases or a shock – also increased from 37 percent in June 2020 to 42 percent in August 2021.

Consistent deterioration in FCS most likely reflect the impact of continuously increasing food and fuel prices given that Sierra Leone is a net importer of food, in addition to macroeconomic decline during the COVID-19 outbreak. With most households in Sierra Leone engaged in farming, a worsening FCS may also indicate challenges in terms of agricultural production, such as declining yields due to a lack of access to improved seeds and

Г



inputs and an increasingly unpredictable climate which has negatively impacted farming activities.

There are significant differences between districts in terms of the population facing hunger. The graph overleaf shows that the highest proportion of the population having poor food consumption are in Kenema, Tonkolili, Port Loko and Falaba districts. The lowest proportion are Bo, Bonthe, Western Area Rural and Urban districts.

Comparing the August 2021 FSMS, - conducted during the "lean season" - with the 2020 CFSVA - undertaken in in the harvest period - provides an into the insight seasonal dynamics of food security in Sierra Leone. The August FSMS was conducted during the lean season, at the height of the rains when local production of food is lower and road conditions in rural areas deteriorate,



impeding access. As such the proportion of households with "poor" FCS, 37 percent, is higher in the lean season compared to 27 percent in the harvest period, as found by the 2020 CFSVA. Similarly, the proportion of households with "acceptable" FCS was found to be higher in the harvest period, 39 percent (CFSVA 2020), a time when rural households have access to more abundant and diversified food stocks from their own production, compared to just 21 percent during the lean season (August 2021 FSMS).

# Household Food Expenditure Share

When the level of income reduces or when prices increase, the share of food expenditure as a proportion of total expenditure also increases. For poor households this means reducing expenditure on other essential non-food items and services, such as education and health. The share of expenditures devoted to food categorises the households into four groups:



- 1. Very poor (those who spend more than 75.0 percent of their budget on food);
- 2. Poor (those who spend between 65.0 and 75.0 percent of their budget on food);
- 3. Borderline (those who spend between 50.0 and 65.0 percent of their budget on food); and
- 4. Acceptable (those who spend less than 50.0 percent of their budget on food).

The current reporting period indicates a serious deterioration to the situation as the proportion of people in the very poor category increased from 31 percent during the same period last year to 74 percent in the current period. This can be attributed to increasing food prices as shown by figure 6: Consumer Price Index for food items, that indicated an increase in prices of food in the first half of the year (current reporting period).

Also, to understand the effects of seasonality, comparisons were made with the CFSVA 2020 which was conducted during the harvest period. Results show that households spending above 75 percent of their income on food (very poor) increases from 29 percent (CFSVA 2020) to 74 percent. This clearly manifests that during the harvest season prices for domestic staples are better when compared to the lean season.





# **Household Coping Strategy Index**

The Reduced Coping Strategy Index (rCSI), also referred to as food-related CSI, is used to assess the level of stress by a household when it is faced with a shock that reduces its access to food. It is measured by combining the frequency and severity of food consumption-based strategies that a household adopts, and it is calculated by considering five standard strategies using a 7-day recall period, including:



- 1 Rely on less preferred and less expensive food
- 2 Borrow food or rely on help from relative(s) or friend(s)
- 3 Limit portion size at meals
- 4 Restrict consumption by adults for small children to eat
- 5 Reduce number of meals eaten in a day

Results of the August 2021 FSMS show a slight increase in the rCSI compared to the 2020 lean season, from 13.53 to 13.78. Increased adoption of food-based coping strategies is consistent with the observed deterioration in the FCS. The rCSI also increased compared to the December 2020 CFSVA, which is expected given the CFSVA data was collected in the harvest period, when access to food is higher and prevalence of shocks lower, reducing the need for households to adopt food-based coping strategies.

# **Livelihood Based Coping Strategies**

Households use different strategies to cope and respond to and/or absorb shocks. The Livelihood Coping Strategy Index (LCSI) is used to understand longer-term coping capacity of households and is classified into three severity levels, stress, crisis, and emergency, and are based on a 30-day recall period. Stress strategies indicate a reduced ability to deal with shocks because of a current reduction in resources or increase in debts. Crisis strategies are often associated with the direct reduction of future productivity. Emergency strategies also affect future productivity but are more difficult to reverse or more dramatic in nature than crisis strategies.

Stress livelihood coping strategies are related to financial capital, and erode the financial base of the households

Stress	Crisis	Emergency
Sold household assets/ goods	Sold productive assets or means of transport	Sold house or land
Purchased food on credit	Reduced health and educational expenditures	Begged
Spent savings	Withdrawn children from school	Sold last female breeding
Borrowed money		stock, eat seed stocks

The August 2021 FSMS shows the increased adoption of livelihood coping strategies. Generally, more and more households are using emergency livelihood based coping strategies, compared to the same period

last year (June 2020), increasing from 20 percent to 32 percent. In 2018, only 11 percent used emergency coping strategies.

As the situation has been deteriorating, households have overall shifted towards more severe strategies, and thus there are less households using stress strategies compared



with September 2018 (28 percent) to the current reporting period (20 percent). This indicates that households in Sierra Leone have a reduced capacity to respond to shocks as they continue to lose their asset base to meet their food and cash needs. The worst situation was experienced in August 2019 when 47 percent of the households were employing crisis livelihood coping strategies.

When compared to the harvest period (CFSVA 2020), the results shows that during the lean season household engagement in emergency coping strategies increases from 18 percent to 32 percent, clearly depicting the level of economic vulnerability in Sierra Leone during the lean period. This is because at this time household food stocks have depleted and livelihood activities are affected by the heavy rains coupled with high food prices, forcing household members to engage in extreme



coping mechanism, such as begging, engaging in illegal activities, and consuming their seeds for the next planting season.

# **Key Recommendations to Improve Food Security**

### A. Agricultural value chain strengthening

With over three-quarters of households in Sierra Leone engaged in farming, scaling up and strengthening the quality of agricultural support provides the most sustainable way to reduce food insecurity. Potential investments could include:

*i.* Ensure availability of affordable and quality inputs for farmers Supporting farmers to have timely access to improved seeds and organic fertilizer will enable them to increase cropping cycles and yields. Seed support should focus on nutritious leguminous and vegetable crops to increase availability of nutrient dense foods and promote dietary diversification.

ii. Training of farmers in nutrition-sensitive agriculture for improved nutrition

Given the seasonal dynamics of food insecurity shown by the August 2021 FSMS, there is a need to expand production of nutritious food crops during the rainy season and increase consumption. This could be achieved through training farmers, particularly Mother Support Group members and youth, in nutrition-sensitive agriculture and improved eating habits. Trainings should be implemented in alignment with seasonality and combined with improved access to inputs.

iii. Affordable solar energy to support agricultural modernisation

Limited rural electrification is both constraining agricultural production and increasing post-harvest losses. Provision of solar water pumps could enable farmers to increase production of nutritious food crops during the dry season, whilst investing in cold storage will allow farmers, particularly women, to increase the shelf life and quality of their vegetables after harvest, reducing losses.

*iv. Linking local produce to markets* 

Increasing smallholder production of nutritious food crops could be further supported through linking local produce to sustainable markets. A viable option is scaling up the National School Feeding Programme using a homegrown approach, prioritizing the purchase of locally produced nutritious foods. This is in support of the *National School Feeding Policy* and will enhance the implementation of the flagship *Free and Quality Education* initiative at a critical time for children from food insecure households.

v. Transforming agricultural extension

Huge and rapid gains in agricultural production could be achieved through adoption of improved practices by farmers. However, the agricultural extension system is under-resourced, making it hard to

meet needs. Talented young and female agriculturalists could be enrolled as extension workers to costeffectively increase outreach and encourage greater participation of women and youth in agriculture.

### B. Expanding safety nets

### *i.* Social safety nets for extremely poor households

Increasing food prices have accentuated the food insecurity of chronically poor households and have compromised the fragile support networks that they rely upon. There is thus a need to scale-up cash assistance to extremely poor households, ensuring that the level of support is closely monitored to be responsive to further price increases.

### *ii.* Developing irrigation systems with cash support

Effectively addressing the seasonal characteristics of food insecurity requires transforming Sierra Leone's agricultural production system. Most prevalent upland rainfed production systems constrain the potential production of Sierra Leone's smallholders. Assisting youth and women with cash to engage in labour intensive development of irrigation systems to utilize Inland Valley Swamps could support this transition.